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one


BEGINNINGS


The Physical Setting


The story of Durham, no less than the visual drama of the city, is integrally related to its physical setting. A rolling topography, which encouraged medieval travellers to perceive seven hills, as befits a holy city, may to the more discerning, if less romantic, eye be seen to form a basin, the rim of which lies over 300ft above sea level and with a radius of some three-quarters of a mile. (1a) At the centre of the basin there rises a tongue of high land, a narrow plateau at some 160-190ft in height. The prominence of this feature is both pin-pointed and accentuated today by the cathedral, which sits astride the plateau, known locally as the peninsula.


The rolling topography around Durham is of very recent geological origin. What we see today consists largely of thick drift deposits of sand, gravel and clay left by the Devensian ice-sheet (110,000 to 10,000 years ago) and subsequent melt-water lake overlying the original solid geology of the Lower Coal Measure Series. The drift not only contributes significantly to the prominent rim of the basin, but on the west side of the city is responsible for diverting southwards the course of the river Browney away from its original confluence with the Wear at Durham. (1b, c)


Following the disappearance of the ice and the reactivation of river systems on the new surface, the Wear had the major task of re-establishing its former alignment northwards. The alluvium deposits of its present flood plain show that it has meandered widely across the drift deposits in its effort to define a channel within its earlier valley. In the vicinity of Durham it has cut broad gaps, both to the south and north, through what was referred to above as the rim of the Durham basin. A wide or open valley floor is the result. Within the basin, however, the meandering river was thwarted where it encountered formerly buried solid rock. It was thus ‘caught’ and no longer able to migrate laterally. Energised by gentle isostatic uplift of the land no longer depressed by the weight of ice – approaching 1,000ft thick at its maximum, 18,000 years ago – the river cut down vertically in its established meander through the series of sandstone, shales and thin bands of coal. The result today is a horseshoe loop in the middle of the Durham basin as the river curiously doubles back on itself in a gorge some 100ft deep. This ‘incised meander’ is the classic example of this physical feature cited in school and university textbooks. (The original research was undertaken by Arthur Holmes, Professor of Geology at the university.)1
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1 Durham’s physical background: (a) relief, (b) solid geology, (c) drift geology.
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2 Aerial view of Durham from the south.


The meander loop and the peninsula left upstanding as a result of the river’s incision are unmistakable from a contour map. They are hardly less prominent in a modern aerial view, where their distinctiveness complements that of the instantly recognisable townscape silhouette at ground level. (2) It is as if nature has provided the city with an official seal or imprint. Meanwhile, it is entirely appropriate that the upstanding physical feature should have given its name to the city, Durham being Old English for ‘hill-island’.


Prehistory


From some 10,000 years ago the extensive melt-waters occupying the Durham basin gradually gave way to damp lowlands with defined but winding watercourses that regularly inundated their flood plains. While reed beds occupied the shallow valleys, continued amelioration of the climate encouraged afforestation of the higher and drier ground. The earliest human arrivals were hunter-gatherers of the Palaeolithic and Mesolithic eras, with the first few settler-farmers following in the Neolithic period from 3,000BC. The earliest prehistoric finds, mainly flint artefacts, are located on the southern rim of the basin, all above 300ft – at Elvet Hill, Little High Wood and Mountjoy Hill – with a single stray find nearby at Old Durham.2 (3) Any conclusions derived from the distribution, however, must be tempered by the fact that our present knowledge is reliant on recorded evidence of excavations at recent construction sites or from stray finds.


More substantial evidence is in the form of the Iron Age hill-fort of Maiden Castle on the east rim of the basin. Its high, defensive site was even more pronounced when first constructed, when three of its four steep sides were lapped by meanders of the Wear.


Roman activity


Several separate finds on the peninsula indicate that from the first century AD the central plateau was for the first time a focus of activity. (4) Tantalisingly, however, no direct archaeological evidence of settlement has yet come to light, the findings being mainly pottery shards, a quern and coins. The settlement of which we do have knowledge is at what is known as Old Durham. Here, an original native farming unit had developed by the fourth century into a modest villa, judged by the evidence of a bath-house with accompanying opus signinum floors and a hypocaust.3 Unfortunately all traces, including its circular threshing floors, were destroyed by mineral extraction in the 1940s when the sand and gravel, which had originally provided a dry-point site in the wet lowland, was taken for the construction industry. (5)


Evidence of Roman roads in the city is hardly more convincing. The main military road, Dere Street, ran north through the county from Pierce Bridge on the Tees to the Wall at Corbridge. At present-day Willington, some 6 miles to the south-west of Durham, a branch can be traced aiming directly for the heart of the city, but evidence is lost beyond Stonebridge, 1½ miles short, on the ascent of the western rim. It has been suggested that at the top of the ridge the road then went north to Chester-le-Street – and thus on to Newcastle and South Shields4 – but it seems reasonable to infer that a link also descended the rim towards the peninsula.


[image: images]


3 Prehistoric finds. In the background is the present road pattern.
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4 Roman finds. In the background is the present road pattern.
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5 The underground heating system of the Roman bathhouse, Old Durham, c.1940.


A second, later road through the county, known as Cade’s Road, is considered to have run from Middleton on the Tees, through Sedgefield to Chester-le-Street. Old Durham appears directly in line with its northerly course, and it is tempting to link it with wooden piers of a bridge in the river nearby, reportedly found in the early nineteenth century but since lost.


Early Saxon history


For most of the Saxon period it appears that the Durham area, possessing no immediate advantage in terms of accessibility, waterway or fertile soil, remained sparsely populated. The important settlements remained those established by the Romans at Chester-le-Street, 6 miles to the north, and Lanchester, 7 miles to the west. It may be noted that when religious houses were established in the seventh century during the golden age of Northumbria they were at Monkwearmouth (Sunderland) and Jarrow. Again, a century later, when the Lindisfarne Community fled south, they re-established themselves at Chester-le-Street.


The only occurrence that most commentators associate with early Durham is the consecration of Peohtwine as Bishop of Whithorn (Galloway) in 763 at Aelflet ee or Aelfet Island, translated as Elvet, the area immediately east of the peninsula in the vicinity of the present church dedicated to St Oswald (a Northumbrian king killed in battle in 642). The source is the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle, and although the earliest maps of Durham c.1600 depict a circular churchyard, suggesting an ancient foundation, any supporting archaeological evidence of an early church building has proved elusive. (The church, anyway, would have been of wooden construction.) Moreover, archaeological finds in Elvet of any kind for the tenth to twelfth centuries are notable for their absence. Concentration was decidedly on the peninsula. (6)
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6 Tenth- to twelfth-century finds. In the background is the present road pattern.


There can be no doubt, however, about either the veracity or significance of an event in 995, in which Durham was chosen as the final resting place and shrine for the North’s most honoured saint. The presence of the enshrined body of St Cuthbert was to define the genius of the place, the character of the settlement, while the accompanying Community of St Cuthbert conferred on the city the privileges and regional influence through its extensive landed estates. It was the founding moment of the city, with roots that go back to the seventh century and the island of Lindisfarne or Holy Island.


St Cuthbert


Cuthbert was called to monastic life by a vision of the death of St Aidan, who had been brought by King Oswald from Iona in 635 to found a missionary house on Lindisfarne as a base for spreading the Christian faith in northern England. Following service at the sister houses of Melrose and Ripon, he became prior at the mother-house at Lindisfarne, eventually and reluctantly becoming Bishop of Lindisfarne in obedience to King Ecgfrith and Archbishop Theodore. His holiness, wisdom and learning, together with his association with miracle-working, attracted people to one who was essentially a contemplative at heart. And it was in chosen solitude that he died, in his cell on Inner Farne in 687, having earlier resigned as bishop through failing health. He was buried, however, not on Inner Farne but beside the altar of the priory church.


In 698 Cuthbert was proclaimed a saint, affirmation of canonisation being given by the undecayed nature of his body when it was disinterred for translation to an elevated stone shrine. Bishop Eadfrith commissioned the sumptuously illustrated Lindisfarne Gospels for the shrine; it is today acknowledged as the earliest great masterpiece of English medieval book painting. At the same time a written record or testimony of the saint’s life was commissioned and produced by an anonymous Lindisfarne brother. Bede followed soon after with both a verse and prose life of Cuthbert, besides giving fuller treatment in his Ecclesiastical History of the English People in 831.5 Wonder-working relics beside the shrine added a further important dimension to the emerging legend and the ‘cult’ of St Cuthbert.


St Cuthbert Community


Within a century of Cuthbert’s death the priory church had been rededicated and the community itself named after him (and not the founding saint, Aidan). Cuthbert, in fact, is the clearest example in all Anglo-Saxon England of a saint’s culture binding together and guaranteeing continuity of a community during a period of political upheaval.6 He was patron, as well as saint, seen as the guarantor through his continuing role as recipient and defender of the Community’s lands and privileges.7 When the community was forced to leave Lindisfarne in 875 under threat of Viking attack, they naturally took the body with them, along with the treasures and relics.


The community relocated several times during a period of political upheaval in Northumbria, but during this time it not only preserved but extended its estates and had rights confirmed. (7a) Although possession of the body of their dead, yet still active, leader is recorded as of crucial importance, location of their estates and a series of shrewd political alliances together offer an explanation of the community’s history before eventual arrival at Durham.


After various halts on Community holdings during the seven years of wanderings across northern England there was a more permanent stop at Chester-le-Street from 882. Choice of this location was not unrelated to the gift to the Community by Danish king Guthred of much of the territory between the rivers Tyne and Tees. (Earlier, Abbot Eadred had been instructed in a vision to advise the Danes to elect Guthred as their king.) The new location was certainly more optimally located with regard to the Community’s new territories, compared with the peripheral position of Lindisfarne. (7b)


The body was enshrined at Chester-le-Street in a wooden cathedral dedicated to St Mary and St Cuthbert, within the confines of the old Roman town, until in 995 renewed Viking threat caused another upheaval. The community fled south to Ripon, but after a few months they started on the return journey, presumably intending to re-establish their base at Chester-le-Street. They never got that far, stopping 6 miles short at Durham, which became their final resting place.


A political explanation for the decision seems likely, for the leader of the community at this time, Bishop Aldun, had powerful family connections in the area. His son-in-law, Uchtred, was the rising Earl of Northumbria of the House of Bamburgh. (He subsequently played a key role in the building of a new church, and erected defences around the crest of the peninsula.) Aldun can hardly have been ignorant of the potential of Durham, having been bishop for some forty years while residing a mere 7 miles away. Durham was no less optimally located than Chester-le-Street with regard to the community’s lands, besides offering a far superior defensible site. Security was heightened by the river, which lapped around the near-vertical sides of the gorge, while at the same time its lack of navigability offered no hope to any would-be invading Viking longboat.


Interpretation of the decision to locate at Durham may be supplemented or enriched by a mythic or legendary history in which the events are certified in word and picture. Thus Symeon, a Benedictine monk at Durham writing in the early twelfth century, records how the cart bearing Cuthbert’s coffin became immoveable – ‘firmly fixed as it were a mountain’ – on the return journey at Wardlaw, and was only released after three days of fasting, prayer and vigil, during which it was revealed to one of their number that the saint wished his home to be at ‘Dunholme’.8


The Rites of Durham of 1594 embellishes the story further in recording that, according to oral tradition, the exact whereabouts of Dunholme was learnt from overhearing a milkmaid referring to a stray cow at the location.9 A bas-relief sculpture related to this story is on the north-west corner of the transept of the Chapel of Nine Altars.


Sir Walter Scott further certified the story in his long poem ‘Marmion’. Canto 2 recounts the early history, not least the ecclesiastical history, of Northumbria, in which Cuthbert and his wanderings are outlined. The latter episode concludes with:
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7 (a) Wanderings of the St Cuthbert Community. (b) Lands, estates and houses sometime attached to the St Cuthbert Community.





Chester-le-Street, and Ripon, saw


His holy corpse, ere Wardilaw


Hailed him with joy and fear;


And, after many wanderings passed,


He chose his lordly seat at last,


Where his cathedral, huge and vast,


Looks down upon the Wear.10





In recent times a further, and unlikely, source to depict Durham’s holy beginnings is the railway poster by Doris Zinkeisen, c.1930. (8) Unlikely the source may be, but no other illustration better encapsulates the story of our city. Based on medieval manuscripts but executed in art nouveau and art deco style, it portrays the translation of St Cuthbert’s body, with clear reference to the foundation of the earlier cathedral as well as its contemporary silhouette. The motley group is led by a piper, and Bishop Aldun is followed by monks and others. The Lindisfarne Gospels is suggested by the book that one is carrying. The coffin is watched over by two angels, while, distant and above all, their destination is suggested by a cow on top of a rounded mound, and the saint’s ultimate resting place by a faint outline of the Norman cathedral.


[image: images]


8 A railway poster by Doris Zinkeisen, c.1930.


The year 995, then, was the founding moment of our city. Once at their destination the Community immediately erected a cover for the coffin of branches or wattle and daub, which was soon replaced by a stone structure, known as the ‘White Church’, presumably on account of the lighter hue of the freshly cut sandstone. One author has recently suggested that this building might have been the church of St Oswald, just off the peninsula.11 The stone structure itself was only temporary, for in 998 another structure (‘Ecclesia Major’) was begun, with Uchtred impressing the whole population between the rivers Tees and Coquet for the task of raising a cathedral worthy to contain the shrine of their saint. It was completed in 1017, a substantial building with towers over the choir and west end.


The mantle of the country’s leading pilgrimage centre thus fell on Durham. Its attraction was soon further boosted in the first half of the eleventh century by the acquisition of more relics and bones of several other holy men, the most notable being those of St Boisil, prior at Melrose when Cuthbert first entered monastic life, and, especially, of the Venerable Bede from Jarrow monastery. The acquisitions were the ‘work’ of an active sacrist of Durham, Elfred Westhou, who was clearly a most energetic exponent of this particular medieval practice.


THE GOLDEN AGE




Northumbria is noted for a ‘golden age’ during the second half of the seventh and eighth centuries, when the Anglo-Saxon kingdom was the source of a remarkable flowering of English art and culture. Its beginning is traceable to 635 when King Oswald invited Aidan and some Irish monks from Iona to re-introduce Christianity to North East England from a base on the island at Lindisfarne. Gradually a series of monasteries covered the region, the most important houses being at Hexham, Ripon, Whitby and, especially, the joint foundation of Monkwearmouth-Jarrow.


The coming together of Anglo-Saxon, Irish, or Celtic, and Mediterranean influence was the stimulus for the sumptuously illustrated manuscripts, also for embroidery, carved artefacts in bone and metal, as well as heavily incised stone crosses. Lindisfarne and Monkwearmouth-Jarrow in particular were intellectual powerhouses. In the latter monastery Bede, the most famous scribe, wrote over forty works on history, sermons, poems and science, many of which were circulated throughout Europe. (He benefited from the vast library built up at Jarrow through several visits to the continent by the monastery’s founder, Benedict Biscop.) At Whitby, Caedmon is acknowledged to be one of the earliest, if not the earliest, writer of Anglo-Saxon poetry.


Circulation of manuscripts apart, the influence of Northumbria spread far beyond its borders. Missionaries were sent to Scotland at the request of the Picts; missionaries also founded the church in Mercia. Northumbrians abroad included Wilfred and Willibrord as missionaries in Frisia, the latter being made bishop; Willebrad, who became bishop of Bremen; and Alcuin, adviser to Charlemagne in Aachen and abbot of Tours.


The golden age foundered towards the end of the eighth century, weakened by internal political instability and Viking attack from without. Today its legacy is preserved in Durham, the community of Cuthbert having brought both the saint’s body and treasures to the city, to which later were added the remains of Bede, and other manuscripts. It is a legacy that is annually commemorated in a cathedral service giving thanks to its ‘founders and benefactors’; and it is a legacy acknowledged in the naming of five of the colleges of the university.





Further wealth and gifts were brought by pilgrims, whose needs must have stimulated the provision of infrastructure to support them. And from such beginnings, of course, there was to emerge the present-day tourist activity. Among the early visitors was King Cnut (Canute), who is recorded as walking 5 miles barefoot from Trimdon in 1031. On his visit the King of England gifted further lands and confirmed the privileges of the community. The latter act suggests that the relationship between king and community was to their mutual benefit. From the point of view of the community, it may be seen as conforming to previous shrewd alliances that had been forged with Northumbrian and Danish royal households. The question they were soon about to face was what type of relationship would there be with a royal house from Normandy.
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two


ANGLO-NORMAN DURHAM


Norman Arrival


The decades both preceding and following the Norman Conquest can appropriately be described as volatile. Before the Conquest there remained the possibility of Scottish incursion into the area, with the city itself besieged in 1039 (by Duncan, later to be murdered by Macbeth) and 1061. On neither occasion were the peninsula defences breached. From mid-century, annoyance as much as danger emanated from two successive Earls of Northumbria. The rule of both ended prematurely, but not before each in turn had appointed bishops to the see of Durham without consulting the Community of Cuthbert.


In view of the complexity of the northernmost province of his new kingdom, it is little wonder that William the Conqueror should experience difficulty and setbacks before achieving a degree of stability. His initial strategy was to govern through native deputies, allowing Northumbrian nobles to retain the earldom. They proved unsuitable appointments. The first, Copsig, was assassinated within a matter of weeks in 1067; his successor, Cospatric, was of dubious loyalty and lasted little longer, having to flee to Scotland in 1068. William therefore turned to one of his own barons, Robert Cumin, and sent him north with a contingent of 700 soldiers. In 1069 he billeted the company within the city for the night, but before dawn a Northumbrian force, probably with local connivance, burst through the gates, killed the unsuspecting troops and setting fire to the bishop’s palace where Cumin was lodged. ‘So great, at the last, was the multitude of the slain,’ recorded Symeon, ‘that every street was covered with blood, and filled with dead bodies’.1 A single wounded soldier is reported to have survived.


St Cuthbert is mentioned in the massacre story in that he is reputed to have changed the wind direction from north to east, thus blowing the flames from the palace away from the church. There is no mention of the bishop himself. Perhaps he acted on the news of a plot, which he is said to have imparted to Cumin at a meeting beforehand, and absented himself.


The Conqueror’s response was devastating, even if the first garrison he dispatched turned back at Allerton because of a mist attributed to St Cuthbert. During the winter of 1069–70, however, the king’s forces undertook a ‘harrying of the north’, laying waste every village between York and Durham as punishment and in order to prevent any subsequent insurrection.


William himself reached Durham in early 1070. The community, however, had fled. Having been alerted to the impending visit, Bishop Aethewin considered it prudent to lead them back to Lindisfarne, taking St Cuthbert’s coffin and treasures. Their sojourn was brief, however, as they returned after three months, having first sent one of their number to gauge safety. After some repair, cleaning and re-consecration of the cathedral, their former life was resumed. Bishop Aethewin, however, was soon to flee the country, having heard of William’s treatment of Anglo-Saxon clergy, from which even the Archbishop of Canterbury was not exempt.


Although the Conqueror had found no clerical presence on his visit, the size of both church and diocese, together with knowledge of the regional significance of the Cuthbert connection, will have confirmed Durham’s importance for his political strategy. Moreover, the defensive qualities of the peninsula were self-evident: it was the first suitable site north of the Tees, and with a convenient situation in this unpacified part of his kingdom.


Bishop Walcher


Accordingly, in 1071 William appointed Walcher from Lorraine as bishop, the first in a line of non-hereditary bishops. On a visit the following year the king commissioned the building of a castle, which was to be both fortress and a new episcopal palace. (Waltham Abbey was to provide the revenue for its construction.) There was to be no repetition of the massacre of Robert Cumin and his men. An earth motte or mound was built up, mostly material from a ditch around its southern edge. A timber tower was erected on top; otherwise building in the bailey or inner courtyard was in stone. (9a) The earliest remaining part is the Norman crypt chapel, usually given the date of 1072 but probably originating a few years later. Certainly today it constitutes a stunning, intimate architectural space, with two rows of three columns with marked sandstone veining and sculptured capitals. Much original herringbone paving remains. (10) Little light enters through a small window set in the extremely thick north wall, which formed part of the defences.


[image: images]


9 The evolution of Durham Castle: (a) Bishop Walcher (1071–80), (b) Bishop William of St Calais (1081–96), (c) Bishop Rannulph Flambard (1099-1128), (d) Bishop Hugh of Le Puiset (1153–95).


While the Conqueror was in the city, Symeon records how the king asked to see the allegedly uncorrupt body of St Cuthbert, threatening the life of senior churchmen if pilgrims had been deceived. Immediately before the crucial moment the king ‘was suddenly seized with an excessive heat’, such that he immediately mounted his horse and did not stop until he had crossed the Tees.2 Intervention of St Cuthbert apart, it is possible that the monks themselves took the initiative in order to achieve what they had obtained from previous monarchs, namely confirmation of their rights and privileges.


In 1075 Bishop Walcher acquired further powers when the king sold him the earldom of Northumbria, following the execution of Waltheof for implication in a plot against the monarchy. In taking over the civil duties of the earldom, the bishop became both secular and ecclesiastical head of the region. Such were his civil, judicial and military powers that he was in effect a prince-bishop: viceroy to the king in a region far from the capital. The County Palatinate was brought into being, and the coat of arms of the bishops of Durham henceforward reflected their special status, being set against a sword and crosier, not two crosiers, and by a mitre above the coat of arms being encircled with a coronet.


The out-working of the first County Palatine was uneasy, and ultimately proved disastrous, less because of the novelty of a spiritual head acting in civil government, but more in the people to whom delegated powers were given. Relations with Northumbrians had reached a low ebb when Bishop Walcher went to meet them in council at Gateshead, and was assassinated. The king’s immediate response was to send his brother Odo, Bishop of Bayeux, and his troops to exact revenge through a second round of laying waste.
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10 Norman chapel, Durham Castle.


Before his death Bishop Walcher had taken the first steps towards a reordering of monasticism at Durham. He was confirmed in his desire with the arrival, in 1074, of Aldwin, Prior of Winchcombe in Gloucestershire, who had felt the call to introduce disciplined Benedictine communities into the ravaged wastelands of the North East. Aldwin and his two companions made initially for Newcastle, but Walcher offered them a base at St Paul’s, Jarrow. Although a ruin, its association with Bede could hardly fail to attract them. Their success persuaded the bishop to grant the new community estuarine lands along the Tyne. Soon afterwards, in 1078, the bishop began building a dormitory at Durham adjacent to the cathedral, the first part of a future Benedictine monastery. Had he survived, it was his intention to become one of their order. His broader vision, however, was to be realised, and realised in spectacular fashion, by his successors. Three remarkable bishops from Normandy were to imprint on the city its present Norman outline and appearance.


Bishop William of St Calais


William of St Calais was abbot of St Vincent in Normandy and had already come to the notice of the King of France and the Pope before the Conqueror appointed him to the see of Durham in 1081. His abilities were wide-ranging – from the spiritual and intellectual to business and political. He was a key adviser to the Conqueror and favourite minister to his successor, William Rufus. Among his influence at court was the key role he played in planning and organising the Domesday Survey. When a three-year exile is taken into account, it seems that he was in fact absent longer than he was present in the diocese, such that one author has concluded that ‘his place was at the heart of the administration of the realm rather than in the episcopal chair of the church of St Cuthbert’.3 Be that as it may, the achievements of St William of Calais at Durham were crucially significant.
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